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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

X
MICKAEL LOUIS, :
Civil Action No.:
Plaintiff,
V. : COMPLAINT
FOREVER 21, INC., PATRICK WALMSLEY
and ANDY LIU, : Jury Trial Demanded
Defendants.
X

Plaintiff alleges against Defendants Forever 21, Inc. (“Forever 21”), Patrick Walmsley and
Andy Liu (together, “Defendants™) as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Same-sex sexual harassment, racist nicknames and ridicule, and racial profiling of
customers who complain are part of the a daily way of life at the Forever 21 store located at 5301
Kings Plaza, Brooklyn, New York 11234 (the “Store”). Plaintiff Mickael Louis, a Black former
Assistant Store Manager, was treated as a sexual object by one of his managers, Defendant
Patrick Walmsley, who would barrage him with sexual innuendo and come-ons such as “I love
muscular Black guys like you,” “I bet you have a big dick” and “I bet you’re packing,” not to
mention show Mr. Louis cell phone videos of him having sex with men and constantly refer to
Mr. Louis as “Honey.” But that is just the start.

2. Defendant Andy Liu, the Store Manager, had his own nickname for Mr. Louis:
“Nutella,” after the chocolate-flavored snack spread. This was Mr. Liu’s offensive way of
differentiating Mr. Louis from his White employees. Mr. Liu referred to Mr. Louis and other
Black people as “Ghetto” and referred to Black customers as “Your people.” Mr. Liu also

directed Mr. Louis to racially profile customers, saying, “Look out for the Black people, they
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are going to steal,” commenting that “Black people come in here with fake gift cards and fake
credit cards,” and on another occasion stating that a Black employee helping a Black customer
was, “probably setting them up so they can steal.” Mr. Liu ordered Mr. Louis not to have
Black employees on the cash register, “Because they steal.” Eventually, Mr. Louis could take
this harassment and racism no longer, and was forced to leave.

3. This is hardly the first time Mr. Walmsley, Mr. Liu, and the Store have been the
subject of accusations regarding egregious discriminatory and retaliatory practices towards
minority employees. In April 2015, Alexia Daskalakis filed a federal lawsuit alleging that she
was horribly harassed because she is a transgender woman at the Store. See Daskalakis v.

Forever 21, Inc., 15-cv-01768 (RRM) (SMG).' Ms. Daskalakis’ managers (including Mr.

Walmsley and Mr. Liu) told her she was a “hot mess,” and “disgusting,” that she looked
“offensive,” that “in my eyes and in the Company’s eyes, you’re still a male,” and that
“You’re still a male, so you need to abide by the male dress code.” Ms. Daskalakis alleged
that she was fired after she complained about this mistreatment. Apparently no lesson was

learned from that case.

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS

4. Plaintiff brings this action for monetary damages, as well as for declaratory and
injunctive relief, to redress the unlawful discrimination and retaliation committed against him by
Defendants in violation of the Section 1981 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866 (“Section 1981”),

New York State Human Rights Law, New York Executive Law §§ 290 ef seq. (“NYSHRL”) and

! See also http://www.nydailynews.com/new-york/suit-2 1-bosses-mocked-transition-

woman-article-1.2170525; http://fortune.com/2015/04/02/forever-21-slapped-with-transgender-
discrimination-lawsuit; http://www.advocate.com/politics/transgender/2015/04/07/ny-trans-
woman-called-disgusting-forever-2 1-management-files-suit;
http://www.mirror.co.uk/news/world-news/i-devastated-forever-21-transgender-5448172.
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the New York City Human Rights Law, Administrative Code of the City of New York §§ 8-101
et seq. (“NYCHRL”).

PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS

5. Following the commencement of this action, a copy of this Complaint will be
served on the New York City Commission on Human Rights and the Office of the Corporation
Counsel of the City of New York, thereby satisfying the notice requirement of § 8-502 of the
NYCHRL.

6. Plaintiff has filed a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”). Following his receipt of a Notice of Right to Sue, Plaintiff

will file and/or seek leave to file an Amended Complaint to include claims under Title VII of the

Civil Rights Act of 1964.
7. Any and all other administrative prerequisites have been met.
PARTIES
8. Plaintiff Mickael Louis was employed by Forever 21 from in or around January

2014 through April 2015. At all relevant times, Plaintiff met the definition of an “employee”
under all applicable statutes. Mr. Louis is a resident of Kings County, New York.

0. Defendant Patrick Walmsley was, at all relevant times, an employee at Forever 21.
Mr. Walmsley directly supervised Mr. Louis and directly participated in the unlawful conduct
described herein. As Mr. Louis’ supervisor, Mr. Walmsley had the authority to discipline and
terminate him, direct his work activities, assign his job responsibilities, and monitor his
performance. At all relevant times, Mr. Walmsley was an “employer” within the meaning of all

applicable statutes.
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10.  Defendant Andy Liu was, at all relevant times, an employee at Forever 21. Mr.
Liu directly supervised Mr. Louis and directly participated in the unlawful conduct described
herein. As Mr. Louis’ supervisor, Mr. Liu had the authority to discipline and terminate him,
direct his work activities, assign his job responsibilities, and monitor his performance. At all
relevant times, Mr. Liu was an “employer” within the meaning of all applicable statutes.

11.  Defendant Forever 21 is a foreign business corporation with its headquarters
located at 3880 North Mission Road, Los Angeles, California 90031. At all relevant times,
Forever 21 met the definition of an “employer” under all relevant statutes.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343
as this action involves federal questions regarding the deprivation of Plaintiff’s rights under
Section 1981, and Mr. Louis’ Title VII claims which will be added at a later date. This Court has
supplemental subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s related state law claims pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1367(a).

13.  Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a
substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to this action, including the unlawful
employment practices alleged herein, occurred in this district.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

14. Plaintiff Mickael Louis is a Black former Assistant Store Manager (“ASM”) at the
Forever 21 Store.

15.  As part of Mr. Louis’ duties as ASM, he was involved in directing the staff and
managing store operations, but he was also tasked with responsibilities related to the Store’s loss

prevention given that he had a background in loss prevention with his previous employer.
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16.  For the duration of Mr. Louis’ employment at the Store, the Visual Manager was
Patrick Walmsley and the Store Manager was Andy Liu, both of whom were his superiors with
manager titles.

17.  Mr. Walmsley and Mr. Liu created and fostered a racially and sexually hostile and
offensive work environment.

18. For instance, but only by way of example, Mr. Walmsley (who is gay) often
insinuated that he wanted to have sex with Mr. Louis. On many occasions he said things like, “I
love muscular Black guys like you.”

19.  Mr. Walmsley, without Mr. Louis’ request or consent, showed Mr. Louis videos on
his cell phone of him having sex with a Black man. He then said, “This is what I like.” This
happened on multiple occasions.

20.  Mr. Walmsley frequently commented about Mr. Louis’ penis, including comments
such as “I bet you have a big dick” and “I bet you’re packing.”

21.  Mr. Walmsley would refer to Mr. Louis as “Honey,” even after Mr. Louis told him
he did not want to be referred to using that name.

22.  But this was only the start of the offensive nicknames. Mr. Liu offensively
referred to Mr. Louis as: “Nutella.” This is a reference to the chocolate-flavored product and the
fact that Mr. Louis is Black. Mr. Liu referred to Mr. Louis as “Nutella” on a regular basis as if it
were his actual name or nickname, despite Mr. Louis’ pleas to stop.

23. On many occasions, Mr. Liu made racist comments about Black customers and
other employees. On one occasion, he turned to Mr. Louis after a group of Black customers

wearing baggy clothing walked into the Store and said, “You’re Ghetto, these are your people.”
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24.  Mr. Liu once referred to another Black employee whose clothing he did not like as
looking like she was “homeless.”

25.  Mr. Liu was aware that Mr. Louis had loss prevention duties at the Store and gave
him racist tips and directives to carry out his job. For instance, but only by way of example, Mr.
Liu said: “Look out for the Black people, they are going to steal.”

26.  Mr. Liu also said of Black customers: “Black people come in here with fake gift
cards and fake credit cards.”

27.  On another occasion, Mr. Liu observed a Black sales associate speaking to a Black
customer and commented to Mr. Louis that: “She [the employee] is probably setting them up
so they can steal.”

28. Mr. Liu often told Mr. Louis to minimize the frequency that Black employees
worked on the cash register. When Mr. Louis questioned him on the reason, he bluntly stated:
“Because they steal.”

29.  Mr. Liu also refused to give a cashier position to an employee because she is
Black, and instead gave the position to a White employee with less experience.

30. The above allegations are only a representative sampling of the sexually hostile
and racist work environment created at the Forever 21 Store by Mr. Walmsley and Mr. Liu.

31.  Mr. Louis complained to Mr. Liu and Mr. Walmsley about the way he was being
treated, but nothing ever changed.

32.  For instance, when Mr. Louis complained to Mr. Liu that Mr. Walmsley was
sexually harassing him, Mr. Liu would laugh and simply respond: “Well maybe you should take

him out.”
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33.  Mr. Louis complained to Mr. Liu that, “My name is not Nutella” and asked him
not to refer to him using that term. Mr. Liu responded: “Well that’s my name for you.”

34.  When Mr. Louis complained to Mr. Walmsley directly to stop harassing him, Mr.
Walmsley would laugh, tell Mr. Louis to “relax,” ask Mr. Louis “why are you being so
serious?” or say “you’re being so sensitive,” and tell Mr. Louis that he was just “playing
around.”

35.  However, even though Mr. Walmsley knew his conduct bothered Mr. Louis and
made him feel uncomfortable and that Mr. Louis did not consider it “playing around,” it
continued following these complaints.

36.  In fact, the mistreatment only increased over time after Mr. Louis’ many
complaints. Mr. Liu and Mr. Walmsley were effectively a duo and each would support,
encourage, build upon and acquiesce to the offensive conduct committed by the other.

37.  Eventually, the hostile and offensive environment was severe and pervasive and
became too unbearable for Mr. Louis to remain. Mr. Louis could no longer allow himself to go to
a workplace where he was constantly sexually harassed, discriminated against on account of his
race, given racist directives, and where his complaints fell on deaf ears and/or led to retaliation
and further mistreatment.

38.  Accordingly, on April 3, 2015, Mr. Louis left Forever 21, having been effectively
and constructively terminated, given that no reasonable person should be or could be expected to

work in that environment.
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Discrimination and Harassment in Violation of Section 1981)
As To All Defendants

39.  Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation as contained in
each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

40. By the actions described above, among others, Defendants have discriminated
against Plaintiff on the basis of his race in violation of Section 1981 by denying Plaintiff the same
terms and conditions of employment available to other employees, up to and including the hostile
and offensive work environment and the constrictive termination of his employment.

41.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful discriminatory conduct in
violation of Section 1981, Mr. Louis has suffered, and continues to suffer, monetary and/or
economic harm, as well as emotional harm and distress, for which he is entitled to an award of
monetary damages and other relief.

42, Defendants’ unlawful actions were intentional, done with malice and/or showed a
deliberate, willful, wanton and reckless indifference to Plaintiff’s rights under Section 1981 for
which Plaintiff is entitled to an award of punitive damages.

43.  Plaintiff is also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Discrimination and Harassment in Violation of the NYSHRL)
As To All Defendants

44.  Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation as contained in
each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

45. By the actions described above, among others, Defendants have discriminated
against Plaintiff on the basis of his gender, sex and/or race in violation of the NYSHRL by

denying Plaintiff the same terms and conditions of employment available to other employees, up
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to and including the hostile and offensive work environment and the constrictive termination of
his employment.

46.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful discriminatory conduct in
violation of the NYSHRL, Mr. Louis has suffered, and continues to suffer, monetary and/or
economic harm, as well as emotional harm and distress, for which he is entitled to an award of
monetary damages and other relief.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Discrimination and Harassment in Violation of the NYCHRL)
As To All Defendants

47.  Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation as contained in
each of the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

48. By the actions described above, among others, Defendants have discriminated
against Plaintiff on the basis of his gender, sex and/or race in violation of the NYCHRL by
denying Plaintiff the same terms and conditions of employment available to other employees, up
to and including the hostile and offensive work environment and the constrictive termination of
his employment.

49.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful discriminatory conduct in
violation of the NYCHRL, Mr. Louis has suffered, and continues to suffer, monetary and/or
economic harm, as well as emotional harm and distress, for which he is entitled to an award of
monetary damages and other relief.

50. Defendants’ unlawful actions were intentional, done with malice and/or showed a
deliberate, willful, wanton and reckless indifference to Plaintiff’s rights under the NYCHRL for
which Plaintiff is entitled to an award of punitive damages.

51.  Plaintiff is also entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that the Court enter judgment in his favor and against
Defendant, containing the following relief:

A. A declaratory judgment that the actions, conduct and practices of Defendants
complained of herein violate federal, state and local laws;

B. An award of damages in an amount to be determined at trial, plus prejudgment
interest, to compensate Plaintiff for all monetary and/or economic damages;

C. An award of damages in an amount to be determined at trial, plus prejudgment
interest, to compensate Plaintiff for all non-monetary and/or compensatory damages, including
but not limited to, compensation for his emotional harm and distress;

D. An award of damages to be determined at trial, plus prejudgment interest, to

compensate Plaintiff for harm to his professional and personal reputations and loss of career

fulfillment;
E. An award of punitive damages;
F. An award of costs that Plaintiff has incurred in this action, as well as Plaintiff’s

reasonable attorneys’ fees to the fullest extent permitted by law; and

G. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

10
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JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues of fact and damages stated herein.

Dated: February 11, 2016
New York, New York
Respectfully submitted,

WIGDOR LLP

o, PP LoD

David E. Gottlieb
Rita Lenane (admission pending)

85 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10003
Telephone: (212) 257-6800
Facsimile: (212) 257-6845
dgottliecb@wigdorlaw.com
rlenane@wigdorlaw.com

Counsel for Plaintiff

11
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Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a
certification to the contrary is filed.

I, David E. Gottlieb , counsel for Plaintiff , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is
ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,
I the complaint seeks injunctive relief,
O the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIII on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 50.3.1 (a)
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because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the
same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another civil case merely because the civil
case: (A) involves identical legal issues, or (B) involves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (c) further provides that “Presumptively, and subject to the power
of'a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are still pending before the
court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County: No

2.) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? No

b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? Yes

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or

Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau

or Suffolk County?
(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).
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I am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.
Yes |:| No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?
[] Yes (If yes, please explain) No

I certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature: C:Q —:{D é@
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

MICKAEL LOUIS,

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

FOREVER 21, INC., PATRICK WALMSLEY and
ANDY LIU,

N N N N N N N

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Forever 21, Inc.
3880 North Mission Road
Los Angeles, California 90031

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  David E. Gottlieb, Esq.

Wigdor LLP

85 Fifth Avenue

Fifth Floor

New York, New York 10003

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

MICKAEL LOUIS,

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

FOREVER 21, INC., PATRICK WALMSLEY and
ANDY LIU,

N N N N N N N

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Mr. Patrick Walmsley
Forever 21
5301 Kings Plaza
Brooklyn, New York 11234

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  David E. Gottlieb, Esq.

Wigdor LLP

85 Fifth Avenue

Fifth Floor

New York, New York 10003

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

MICKAEL LOUIS,

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No.

FOREVER 21, INC., PATRICK WALMSLEY and
ANDY LIU,

N N N N N N N

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Mr. Andy Liu
Forever 21
5301 Kings Plaza
Brooklyn, New York 11234

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  David E. Gottlieb, Esq.

Wigdor LLP

85 Fifth Avenue

Fifth Floor

New York, New York 10003

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk



